RECEIVED

08-23-2019

2019AP001058-CR

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT IV
APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF DANE COUNTY
HONORABLE JILL J. KAROFSKY

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,
V.
KODY K. JOHNSON,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

BRIEF AND ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT

Michael J. Herbert Wisconsin State Bar No. 1059100 10 Daystar Ct., Ste. C Madison, Wisconsin 53704 (608) 249-1211 Attorney for Kody Johnson

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the record in the present case provides a factual basis for Mr. Johnson's plea(s) to three counts of contempt of court in violation of Wis. Stats. §785.01(1)(b).

Mr. Johnson raised this issue in his motion for postconviction relief, arguing that his pleas to three counts of contempt of court lacked a factual basis. Mr. Johnson also argued that even if a factual basis existed for the offense of contempt of court, the record did not establish a factual basis for pleas to three separate counts, as any contempt was a continuous act.

The circuit court held a hearing, and denied the motion. Mr. Johnson filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF REASONS FOR ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Johnson does not request oral argument and does not recommend that the opinion be published.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Johnson was originally charged with felony interference with child custody, contrary to Wis. Stats.

§948.31(2). Pursuant to his plea(s), Mr. Johnson was convicted of three counts of contempt of court as an unclassified misdemeanor, contrary to Wis. Stats. §785.01(1)(b). The state orally amended the complaint at the plea and sentencing hearing, but did not formally file a written amended complaint. The court placed Mr. Johnson on probation for a period of two years.

During the plea colloquy, the court purported to find a factual basis for the pleas based on the criminal complaint and supplemental facts set forth by defense counsel.

Mr. Johnson filed a motion for postconviction relief, seeking to withdraw his pleas to each of the three counts of contempt. The motion argued that the record did not establish a factual basis for the pleas. The motion further argued that if the record did establish a factual basis for contempt of court, the contempt was continuous and the record would not support a conviction for three distinct counts.

The circuit court held a hearing. No testimony or evidence was introduced; the parties each submitted oral arguments. At the conclusion of the hearing the circuit court denied the motion. The court found a factual basis for the pleas.

¹ All references to Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2017-2018 Edition unless otherwise specified.

Mr. Johnson subsequently filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the criminal complaint, on February 15, 2018, Officer Joswiak was dispatched to 1148

Morraine View Drive in the City of Madison for a preserve the peace. (DOC 1:1; Appendix B:1). An individual identified as T.L.C. had requested police presence for a child exchange. (DOC 1:1; Appendix B:1). T.L.C. advised that she shares a daughter with the father, identified as Kody K. Johnson. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

It was determined that Mr. Johnson had not been at his apartment in two to three weeks. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Officer Joswiak made telephone contact with Mr. Johnson, who advised that he was confused because he was told by other officers that he could have custody of the child. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Officer Joswiak advised Mr. Johnson that if there was no custody agreement in place, the mother has full custody of the child. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Officer Joswiak advised Mr. Johnson to return the child within twelve hours or face possible criminal charges pursuant to statute 948.31. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

The complaint states that there was no custody agreement in place between T.L.C. and Mr. Johnson. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

Det. Ludden made telephone contact with Mr. Johnson on February 16, 2018. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Det. Ludden advised Mr. Johnson that he had twelve hours to return the child. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Det. Ludden further advised Mr. Johnson that if he had concerns about the child's care or safety he should report them to Dane County Child Protection Services. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Det. Ludden advised Mr. Johnson that he could not simply overrule the state statute. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Mr. Johnson advised Det. Ludden that the child was fine and that he would abide by a court schedule once it was established. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

Det. Ludden spoke with Dane County Court Commissioner Jason Hanson on February 20, 2018. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Commissioner Hanson advised Det. Ludden that he had to first make a determination of paternity, and that a paternity hearing was scheduled for March 1, 2018. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Commissioner Hanson advised Det. Ludden that until paternity was established, the only person with legal custody was T.L.C. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

On that same day, Det. Ludden left a voicemail message for Mr. Johnson, advising him that she had discussed the case with the Dane County District Attorney's Office and that Mr. Johnson would face charges if he did not return the child immediately. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Det. Ludden provided Mr. Johnson with her contact information. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

According to Det. Kellogg's testimony at the preliminary hearing, Mr. Johnson attempted to appear at the paternity hearing by telephone. (DOC 54:10; Appendix D:10). The commissioner did not allow Mr. Johnson's telephonic appearance as it was untimely requested. (DOC 54:10; Appendix D:10). At the hearing, paternity was established. (DOC 54:10; Appendix D:10).

At the plea hearing, defense counsel attempted to supplement the factual record. (DOC 62:16; Appendix E:16). Defense counsel asserted that on March 1 there was a hearing to determine paternity and child placement. (DOC 62:16; Appendix E:16). When Mr. Johnson attempt to appear by telephone, Commissioner Hanson denied the request and informed Mr. Johnson that they would proceed without him. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17). On that date at that hearing, paternity

was determined to be Mr. Johnson and T.L.C was given full custody. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17).

Mr. Johnson did not return to Wisconsin, and was picked up in Indiana on March 7, 2018. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17). According to the statement of defense counsel, Mr. Johnson was in continuous contempt from March 1 to March 7. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17).

APPELLANT'S ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Whether the record in the present case establishes a factual basis for Mr. Johnson's plea(s) to three counts of contempt of court in violation of Wis. Stats. §785.01(1)(b).

A. Summary of the Argument

Mr. Johnson submits that the factual record in this case does not establish a factual basis for his plea(s) to three counts of contempt of court in violation of Wis. Stats. §785.01(1)(b).

First, the record is insufficient to establish that there was a court order in place that required Mr.

Johnson to return the child to the custody of T.L.C.

Although defense counsel may stipulate to a factual basis, the statements of defense counsel at the plea hearing cannot themselves function as a factual basis for

the pleas. The order issued by the court commissioner on March 1, 2018, is not part of the factual record in this case. Other than the speculation of defense counsel, there is no indication in the record that the order awarded custody.

Second, Mr. Johnson was not actually aware of the contents of the court commissioner's order. He was not permitted to appear at the hearing by telephone, and there is no indication in the record that either the events or results of the hearing on March 1 were ever communicated to Mr. Johnson. Mr. Johnson submits that he could not be contemptuous of the contents of a court order of which he was unaware.

Finally, even if there is a factual basis to conclude that Mr. Johnson did indeed knowingly and intentionally disobey a court order, it was a single continuous act. Mr. Johnson submits that there is no legal basis to conclude that each twenty-four hour period of contempt constitutes a distinct and separate offense sufficient to provide a factual basis for three counts of conviction.

B. Standard of Review

The withdrawal of a plea under the manifest injustice standard rests in the circuit court's discretion; the reviewing court will only reverse if the circuit court

has failed to properly exercise its discretion. <u>State v. McCallum</u>, 208 Wis. 2d 463, ¶15, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997) An exercise of discretion based on an erroneous application of the law is an erroneous exercise of discretion. <u>State v. McCallum</u>, 208 Wis. 2d 463, ¶15, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997).

C. Relevant Law

When a defendant seeks to withdraw a plea after sentencing, he must establish by clear and convincing evidence that refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in a manifest injustice. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006).

Wis. Stats. § 971.08(1)(b) provides that before a circuit court accepts a defendant's guilty plea, it must make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged; establishing a sufficient factual basis requires a showing that the conduct which the defendant admits constitutes the offense charged. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶33, 301 Wis.2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23 (2007).

The purpose of the statutory requirement for a court inquiry as to basic facts is to protect the defendant who pleads guilty voluntarily and understanding the charge brought but not realizing that his conduct does

not constitute the charged crime. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶35, 301 Wis.2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23 (2007). A defendant's failure to realize that the conduct to which he pleads guilty does not fall within the offense charged is incompatible with that plea being knowing and intelligent. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶35, 301 Wis.2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23 (2007).

A factual basis may be established through testimony by witnesses, reading of police reports or statements of evidence by the prosecutor. White v. State, 85 Wis.2d 485, 490, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978). In applying the manifest injustice test on review, the court may consider the whole record since the issue is no longer whether the guilty plea should have been accepted, but rather whether there was an abuse of discretion in the trial court's denial of the motion to withdraw; facts adduced at the preliminary hearing and at the motion hearing may be considered in evaluating the denial of the motion to withdraw. White v. State, 85 Wis.2d 485, 491, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978).

D. Argument

Mr. Johnson respectfully submits that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying his motion for postconviction relief to withdraw his plea(s) in this case.

The facts set forth in the criminal complaint and preliminary hearing, and the supplemental facts set forth at the plea and sentencing hearing, do not establish that Mr. Johnson disobeyed, resisted, or obstructed the authority, process, or order of a court pursuant to Wis. Stats. §785.01(1)(b).

The circuit court erroneously found that the order issued by the court commissioner at the March 1 paternity hearing provided the basis for the offense of conviction. However, the order itself is not part of the factual record. Defense counsel's speculation as to the contents of the order cannot function as factual testimony. There is an insufficient basis in the record to conclude that the order awarded custody or required Mr. Johnson to return the child to T.L.C.

In addition, Mr. Johnson was not aware of the contents of the order because he did not appear at the March 1 paternity hearing. There is no indication in the record that law enforcement or any other party ever communicated the results of the hearing to Mr. Johnson. Regardless of whether Mr. Johnson submitted an untimely request to appear by telephone, he cannot engage in an act of contempt – disobedience, resistance, or obstruction – without knowledge of the contents of the court's order or awareness of the court's authority or process.

However, even if Mr. Johnson was in contempt of court as a result of the March 1 paternity hearing, there is an insufficient basis in the record to conclude that each passing day constituted a separate and distinct act of contempt sufficient to constitute a separate criminal offense. At best, the factual record would support a conviction to only one count of contempt.

1. Plea and sentencing hearing.

The plea and sentencing hearing was held on July 9, 2018. Count one of the information was orally amended to three counts alleging a violation of Wis. Stats. §785.01(1)(b). (DOC 62:2; Appendix E:2). Defense counsel set forth the functional elements of the offense – intentional disobedience, resistance, or obstruction of authority, process, or order of a court. (DOC 62:3; Appendix E:3). The court followed the procedure for punitive sanction set forth in Wis. Stats. §785.03(1)(b). (DOC 62:3; Appendix E:3).

Defense counsel provided supplemental facts that were not part of the criminal complaint or preliminary hearing. Defense counsel asserted that Commissioner Hanson entered an order in case number 18AP50PJ. (DOC 62:16; Appendix E:16). Defense counsel asserted that on March 1, 2018, there was a hearing to determine

paternity and child placement. (DOC 62:16; Appendix E:16). Mr. Johnson was in possession of the child at that time; he had been told by law enforcement to return the child to the mother. (DOC 62:16; Appendix E:16).

Consistent with the preliminary hearing testimony, defense counsel asserted that Mr. Johnson called in for the hearing. (DOC 62:16; Appendix E:16). Commissioner Hanson denied the request, informing Mr. Johnson that they would proceed without him because he had opted not to personally appear. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17). Defense counsel asserted that paternity was determined to be Mr. Johnson and full custody of the child was awarded to T.L.C. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17).

Mr. Johnson did not return with the child to Wisconsin until March 7, 2018. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17). Defense counsel asserted that as factual basis, Mr. Johnson was in continuous contempt of court from March 1 of 2018 to March 7 of 2018. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17).

The circuit court stated, "I get that the first count is March 1....so explain to me the other two." (DOC 62:18; Appendix E:18). Defense counsel responded, "I think we can do March 2nd and March 3rd." (DOC 62:18; Appendix E:18). The court asked the state if it

agreed; the state responded in the affirmative. (DOC 62:18; Appendix E:18).

Mr. Johnson respectfully submits that the facts set forth in the complaint, preliminary hearing, and plea hearing do not establish a factual basis for three counts of contempt of court in violation of Wis. Stats. \$785.01(10)(b).

2. Postconviction motion hearing

Mr. Johnson noted at the postconviction motion hearing that the basis for the convictions was that Mr. Johnson allegedly violated a court order issued on March 1, 2018. (DOC 63:4; Appendix G:4). Mr. Johnson further noted that the criminal complaint essentially cuts off its factual narrative as of February. (DOC 63:4; Appendix G:4).

Mr. Johnson reiterated his arguments that the record does not include a copy of the paternity order or any indication that the order instructed Mr. Johnson to do something. (DOC 63:4-6; Appendix G:4-6). Mr. Johnson also argued that the record did not indicate that the events of the March 1 hearing or the contents of the order were communicated to Mr. Johnson. (DOC 63:7; Appendix G:7). Mr. Johnson argued that although defense counsel can stipulate to the factual basis, the

statements of defense counsel cannot in themselves create a factual basis. (DOC 63:8-9; Appendix G:8-9).

Mr. Johnson noted that both the state and defense counsel had referred to Mr. Johnson being in "continuous" contempt. (DOC 63:9; Appendix G:9). Mr. Johnson reiterated his argument that even if the record supports a finding that he was in contempt of a court order, the record does not provide a basis for three separate counts of contempt. (DOC 63:9-10; Appendix G:9-10).

Mr. Johnson further argued that whether custody was established or awarded at the March 1 paternity hearing is unclear from the record. (DOC 63:22; Appendix G:22). None of the parties describing the March 1 hearing were present for the hearing; postconviction counsel noted that the public CCAP record refers only to the paternity order. (DOC 63:21-22; Appendix G:21-22).

The circuit court made the finding that paternity was determined to be Mr. Johnson and T.L.C. (the biological mother) was given full custody. (DOC 63:23; Appendix G:23). Mr. Johnson did not return until March 7, 2018. (DOC 63:23; Appendix G:23). The court stated, "so the factual basis we have is that he was in continuous contempt of court from March 4th – excuse

me – from March 1st of 2018 to March 7 of 2018." (DOC 63:23; Appendix G:23).

The court stated that "I think this would be different had Mr. Johnson not had the opportunity to be at the March 1st hearing, but he did. And Commissioner Hanson at that hearing made a paternity determination and made a custody determination." (DOC 63:24; Appendix G:24). "From that point forward, there was a court order, and that were the -- those were the facts that were used at the plea hearing in this case." (DOC 63:24; Appendix G:24).

The court concluded that Mr. Johnson had failed to meet his burden to show by clear and convincing evidence that there would be a manifest injustice if he was not permitted to withdraw his plea(s). (DOC 63:24-25; Appendix G:24-25).

3. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying Mr. Johnson's motion for postconviction relief.

The withdrawal of a plea under the manifest injustice standard rests in the circuit court's discretion; the reviewing court will only reverse if the circuit court has failed to properly exercise its discretion. State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, ¶15, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997) An exercise of discretion based on an erroneous

application of the law is an erroneous exercise of discretion. State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, ¶15, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997).

a. The circuit court's finding of a custody order was erroneous.

The circuit court made a finding that at the March 1 paternity hearing, full custody was given to T.L.C. However, Mr. Johnson submits that the facts of record in this case do not support a finding that the court commissioner issued a custody order at the March 1 hearing.

Unfortunately, the order issued by the court commissioner at the March 1 paternity hearing is not part of the record in this case. There is no indication that either Mr. Johnson's defense counsel or the prosecutor was present at the paternity hearing and would have had firsthand knowledge of what the court commissioner actually ordered. The circuit court's conclusion that a custody determination was made at the March 1 paternity hearing is speculative. The facts of record not give rise to a reasonable inference that such a determination was made.

The basis for the court's conclusion appears to be the statements of Mr. Johnson's defense counsel at the plea hearing. However, there is no indication that defense counsel was present at the paternity hearing, and it was not set forth on the record that defense counsel had a copy or firsthand knowledge of the order.

A factual basis may be established through testimony by witnesses, reading of police reports or statements of evidence by the prosecutor. White v. State, 85 Wis.2d 485, 490, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978). In conducting the inquiry into whether there is a factual basis for the offense, the trial court may consider hearsay evidence, such as testimony of police officers, the preliminary examination record and other records in the case. State v. Black, 2001 WI 31, ¶11, 242 Wis. 2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363 (2001).

Defense counsel's speculation as to what happened at the paternity hearing does not fall within any of these categories. Mr. Johnson does not dispute that a factual basis may be established by stipulation of counsel to the facts in the criminal complaint. See State
V. Black, 2001 WI 31, ¶13, 242 Wis. 2d 126, 624
N.W.2d 363 (2001). However, Mr. Johnson submits that a factual basis cannot be established or created by factual assertions of defense counsel that are not supported by other aspects of the factual record.

Even if the court commissioner did make a custody determination at the March 1 paternity hearing,

there is an insufficient basis to draw the conclusion that the custody determination expressly ordered Mr.

Johnson to return the child. The state chose to amend the charge in this case from interference with child custody to contempt of court. The fact that Mr. Johnson remained out of state with the child until he was apprehended on March 7 may or may not constitute interference with T.L.C.'s custody. Without a record of a specific court order requiring him to return the child, however, his conduct cannot be considered disobedience, resistance, or obstruction of an order of a court.

b. Mr. Johnson's awareness of the court commissioner's action.

Mr. Johnson argued that he could not be in contempt of the authority, process, or order of a court unless he was aware that the authority, process, or order of a court required him to do something. In order to be in contempt, Mr. Johnson would have had to engage in an act of disobedience, resistance, or obstruction. See Wis. Stats. §785.01(1)(b). There is no indication in the record that Mr. Johnson was ever advised of the events of the March 1 paternity hearing or the details of any order that was issued by the court commissioner.

The circuit court did not directly address the argument. Instead, the circuit court concluded that Mr. Johnson could have been at the hearing, and had he been at the hearing he would have known what occurred. (DOC 63:25; Appendix G:25).

It is not clear why the fact that Mr. Johnson had an opportunity to be at the paternity hearing is sufficient to establish that he knowingly engaged in an intentional act of contempt. Mr. Johnson attempted to appear by telephone, and the court commissioner could have permitted him to do so. Instead of allowing him to remain on the line and hear what was occurring at the hearing, the court commissioner chose to end the call and proceed without Mr. Johnson's telephonic appearance. (DOC 62:17; Appendix E:17).

The legislature has regulated contempt in Wis. Stats. ch. 785; contempt of court is defined as "intentional misconduct or disobedience towards the authority of the court." Frisch v. Henrichs, 2007 WI 102, ¶33, 304 Wis.2d 1, 736 N.W.2d 85 (2007). A finding of contempt rests on the trial court's factual findings; the critical findings are that the party was able to comply with the order and that the refusal to comply was willful and with intent to avoid compliance.

See Evans v. Luebke, 2003 WI App 207, ¶24FN12, 267 Wis. 2d 596, 671 N.W.2d 304 (Ct.App.2003).

Mr. Johnson submits that he could not have engaged in intentional or willful refusal to comply with an order of the court if he was unaware of the court's action.² The fact that Mr. Johnson had the opportunity to appear in person at the paternity hearing does not render his subsequent conduct willful or intentional noncompliance. 'Willfulness' and 'intentional' are concepts that presuppose knowledge and awareness of what the person is purportedly required to do.

The circuit court also placed some significance on the fact that Mr. Johnson was aware of the order at the plea hearing. (DOC 62:25; Appendix G:25). However, the issue is not whether Mr. Johnson was aware of the order at the plea hearing, but rather, whether he was aware of the order during the period in which he was allegedly in contempt of the order.

A defendant's acceptance or stipulation to a factual basis cannot itself form the factual basis for the conviction. One of the purposes of the court's obligation to establish a factual basis for the plea is to protect the

_

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