RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-23-2019 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2019AP001058-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

KODY K JOHNSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 12, THE HONORABLE JILL J. KAROFSKY, PRESIDING

> Tracy L. McMiller Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1097909

Dane County District Attorney's Office 215 S. Hamilton St., Room 3000 Madison WI 53703-3297 Telephone: (608) 266-4211

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

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm because a factual basis for Johnson's plea was developed on the record.

Johnson's claim on appeal is that he is entitled to plea withdrawal because the circuit court failed to establish a factual basis for his plea. A factual basis for Johnson's plea was, however, developed on the record. Consequently, Johnson is not entitled to relief on his claim.

A. A defendant is entitled to post-sentencing plea withdrawal only when retaining the plea would result in a manifest injustice.

Before accepting a plea, a circuit court must perform the duties set forth in Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and *State v*. *Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), and it must ensure the plea is knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made. *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶¶ 23, 25, 293 Wis.2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. Relevant here, section 971.08 requires the circuit court to "[m]ake such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b).

The circuit court is required to find a factual basis to support a defendant's guilty plea. Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b); and State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 14, 232 Wis.2d 714,

605 N.W.2d 836. The supreme court has identified this as the sixth duty that a circuit court must follow when it takes a plea. *Brown*, 293 Wis.2d 594, ¶ 35 ("(6) Ascertain personally whether a factual basis exists to support the plea;" (footnote omitted)).

The factual basis requirement '"protects a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge."' Thomas, 232 Wis.2d 714, ¶ 14 (quoted source omitted). Pleading guilty to conduct that does not fall within the charge is incompatible with a knowing and intelligent guilty plea. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶ 35, 301 Wis.2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23. A sufficient factual basis requires a showing that "'the conduct which the defendant admits constitutes the offense charged.'" Id. \P 33 (quoted source omitted). But when the parties have negotiated a plea, a circuit court "need not go to the same length to determine whether the facts would sustain the charge." State v. Sutton, 2006 WI App 118, ¶ 16, 294 Wis.2d 330, 718 N.W.2d 146 (citation omitted). The failure to establish an adequate

factual basis for a plea constitutes a manifest injustice. Thomas, 232 Wis.2d 714, ¶ 17.

A defendant need not admit to the factual basis for the plea. Trial counsel's admission is sufficient for a court to find the required basis. Id. \P 18. When reviewing a motion to withdraw a quilty plea, a court may look to the "totality of the circumstances" to determine whether the defendant has agreed to the plea's factual basis. "The totality of the circumstances includes plea hearing the record, the sentencing hearing record, as well as the defense counsel's statements concerning the actual basis presented by the state . . . " Id. "A factual basis may also be established through witnesses' testimony, or a prosecutor reading police reports or statements of evidence." Id. ¶ 21. In assessing whether there was a sufficient factual basis for the plea, this court examines the totality of the circumstances in the circuit court. *Id*. ¶ 23.

When a court fails to establish a factual basis for the plea, a defendant may move for plea withdrawal under *Bangert*. *State v. Howell*, 2007 WI 75, ¶ 27, 301 Wis.2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48. A *Bangert* motion "must (1) make a prima facie showing of a violation of Wis. Stat. §971.08 or other court-mandated

duties by pointing to passages or gaps in the plea hearing transcript; and (2) allege that the defendant did not know or understand the information that should have been provided at the plea hearing." *Brown*, 293 Wis.2d 594, ¶ 39. If the defendant makes the requisite showings, then "the court must hold a postconviction evidentiary hearing at which the state is given an opportunity to show by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary despite the identified inadequacy of the plea colloquy." *Id.* ¶ 40.

A defendant moving for plea withdrawal after sentencing "must prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in 'manifest injustice.'" Id. ¶ 18 (citation omitted). "The 'manifest injustice' test requires a defendant to show 'a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea.'" Id. ¶ 16 (citation omitted). "[I]f a circuit court fails to establish a factual basis that the defendant admits constitutes the offenses pleaded to, manifest injustice has occurred." Id. ¶ 17.

B. To satisfy the factual basis requirement, all that is required is for the factual basis to be developed on the record.

The "`factual basis' requirement is distinct from the… 'voluntariness' requirement for guilty pleas." *Id.* ¶ 14 (citation omitted). "The factual basis requirement 'protect[s] a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge.'" *Id.* (citation omitted).

"A judge does not have to 'engage in a colloquy with the defendant to establish a factual basis for a guilty plea.'" Id. ¶ 20 (quoting United States v. Musa, 946 F.2d 1297, 1302 (7th Cir. 1991)). This is because "[t]he phrase 'such inquiry,' indicates that a judge may establish the factual basis as he or she sees fit, as long as the judge guarantees that the defendant is aware of the elements of the crime, and the defendant's conduct meets those elements." State v. Black, 2001 WI 31, ¶ 12, 242 Wis.2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363 (quoting Thomas, 232 Wis.2d 714, ¶ 22); Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b) ("Before the court accepts a plea of guilty or no contest, it shall . . . [m]ake such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged.").

To satisfy section 971.08(1)(b), "[a]ll that is required is for the factual basis to be developed on the record." Thomas, 232 Wis.2d 714, ¶ 20. Accordingly, "a court may look at the totality of the circumstances when reviewing a defendant's motion to withdraw a guilty plea to determine whether a defendant has agreed to the factual basis underlying the guilty plea." Id. ¶ 18. The totality of the circumstances includes "the plea hearing record," "counsel's statements concerning the factual basis," and the "preliminary hearing," among other portions of the record. Id. $\P\P$ 18, 24; see also Black, 242 Wis.2d 126, ¶ 11 ("In conducting this inquiry into whether there is a factual basis for the offense, 'the trial court may consider hearsay evidence, such as testimony of police officers, the preliminary examination record and other records in the case.'" (citation omitted)).

Johnson has failed to establish that plea withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. The circuit court complied with its obligation when it took Johnson's guilty plea. To the extent that this Court has any questions about the plea colloquy itself, the totality of the record demonstrates that Johnson entered his guilty plea knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. Taken together, Johnson's

plea colloquy, the executed guilty plea questionnaire and the record established both the preliminary hearing and the plea and sentencing hearing provide a factual basis for Johnson's plea.

C. Johnson is not entitled to plea withdrawal because a factual basis for his plea was developed on the record.

Here, a factual basis for Johnson's plea was developed on the record. As a result, Johnson is not entitled to plea withdrawal.

Wisconsin Statute § 785.01(1)(b) Contempt of Court means intentional disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court. Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1)(b). That crime contains three elements: (1) A court ordered the defendant to return his daughter to the child's mother, (2) the defendant had the ability to comply with that order, and (3) the defendant intentionally disobeyed that Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1)(b). court order. The record established a factual basis for Johnson's plea because it contained information that satisfied all three elements.

Regarding the first element, at the preliminary hearing, Detective Kellogg testified "the court commissioner had found that he (Johnson) had absolutely no custody at that point and

that the child should be returned to the mother immediately." (54:6) Given that testimony, the court commissioner ordered Johnson to return the child to her mother.

As to the second element, at the preliminary hearing, Detective Kellogg testified that she spoke with Johnson and he told her that he was in Ohio and would return the next day with the child. (54:7-8) Given that evidence, the record at the time of his plea demonstrated that Johnson had the ability to return the child but chose not to do so.

As to the third element, Detective Kellogg testified that she told Johnson that "he had absolutely no custody at that point and that the child should be returned to the mother immediately" and he failed to comply with that order. (54:6) Detective Kellogg testified that a felony warrant was issued and U.S. Marshals located Johnson in Indiana with the child on March 7, 2018. (54:7-8)

Furthermore, Attorney Tjader supplemented the record and apprised the circuit court at the plea and sentencing hearing that the family court hearing/custody hearing occurred on March 1, 2018 and Johnson was ordered to return the child. Attorney Tjader and the State stipulated that Johnson was in

continuous contempt of court from March 1-7, 2018. (62:16-18)

Because the record contained information that satisfied the elements for Johnson's crimes, the record established a factual basis for Johnson's plea. *Thomas*, 232 Wis.2d 714, ¶ 20. The circuit court made the proper inquiries at the plea hearing and was able to form a sufficient factual basis for the pleas.

Johnson does not argue that he was unaware of the elements of his crime. See Black, 242 Wis.2d 126, \P 12. And even if he did, the record demonstrated that Johnson knew the elements. The Plea Questionnaire/Waiver of Rights form that Johnson signed outlined the charges to prove three counts of Contempt of Court. (42:1-2)

Johnson argues that the pleas to three counts of contempt of court lacked a factual basis. Johnson's post-conviction motion was conclusory and incomplete and the circuit court was correct to deny the motion. Johnson argues that statements of defense counsel cannot function as a factual basis and that the actual order issued by the court commissioner should have been admitted into the record. Johnson further argues that he was unaware of the contents of

the court commissioner's order. Lastly, Johnson argues that if there is a factual basis to conclude that he knowingly and intentionally disobeyed a court, that is was a single continuous act and therefore could not be three distinct and separate offenses. (Johnson's Br. 9-10)

Contrary to Johnson's belief, the law "does not dictate how a judge" must establish a factual basis. Thomas, 232 Wis.2d 714, ¶ 21. Certainly, the court could have established a factual basis using one of Johnson's methods, but the court was not required to do so to satisfy its obligation. "All that is required is for the factual basis to be developed on the record-several sources can supply the facts." Id. ¶ 20. As noted above, here, several sources, including testimony from the preliminary hearing and counsel's statements at the plea hearing supplied the necessary facts to establish a factual basis for Johnson's plea.

There was no speculation on the part of defense counsel as Johnson now claims. Attorney Tjader and the State are officers of the Court and were merely providing information to the circuit court that had been gleaned from law enforcement, the record and presumably Attorney Tjader's client. There is no requirement that if an individual is

entered into a plea with a joint recommendation to the court that all physical evidence and documentation be put into the record. Such a requirement would put a halt to the criminal justice system. Both the State and defense counsel would need to essentially put on a miniature trial in order to enter a plea. This is similar to situation when there is a violation of a bond or injunction, or a felon in possession of a firearm. The bond, injunction or judgement of conviction are only put into the record when said documentation is in dispute. That was not the case here. All parties stipulated to the custody order and the facts. (62:16-18)

As to Johnson's alternative claim that even if there is a factual basis that Johnson disobeyed an order of the court, that it would only constitute one single continuous act, Johnson is incorrect. The state could have amended to one single continuous act or potentially up to seven separate acts. Here, a plea to three acts was negotiated and agreed upon by the parties. The circuit court asked Johnson at the plea hearing if he agreed to the three distinct dates and he assented. (62: 18-20)

Here, the record established a factual basis for Johnson's plea, as it contained information that showed

Johnson (1) a court ordered the defendant to return his daughter to the child's mother, (2) the defendant had the ability to comply with that order, and (3) the defendant intentionally disobeyed that court order. Accordingly, this Court should reject Johnson's claim.

Johnson failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a refusal to withdraw his plea would result in a manifest injustice. The circuit court correctly held that Johnson failed to show that his plea was not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily entered.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the circuit court's order denying Johnson's Post-Conviction motion.